SID J. WHITE

SEP 1 1995

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC NO. 85,784

CHRISTOPHER WILLIAMS,

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DALE E. TARPLEY AS\$ISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0872921 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/cmf

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT4
ARGUMENT
DEPARTURE ON THE SENTENCING DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS APPARENT ON THE RECORD THAT A PLEA BARGAIN WAS THE REASON FOR DEPARTURE.
CONCLUSION10
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE11

### TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO.

593 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)8
Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958)9
<pre>Casmay v. State, 569 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)</pre>
<u>Crawford v. State</u> , 567 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1990)8
Goss v. State, 608 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)8
Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988)5
<u>Sipp v. State</u> , 604 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)8
<u>Smith v. State</u> , 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988)passim
<u>State v. Esbenshade</u> , 493 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)passim
State v. Jackson, 478 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1985)
Thompson v. State, 617 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)8
<u>White v. State</u> , 531 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 1988)5
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Fla. Stat. § 948.01 (1991)8

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Respondent, Christopher Williams, will be referred to by name or as the defendant. The Petitioner will be referred to as the State.

Citations to the original record on appeal will be made by the letter "R" and the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant appealed the trial court's sentence of two (2) years community control followed by two (2) years probation imposed for manufacture of cannabis and possession of drug paraphernalia.

On or about April 7, 1993 the defendant was charged by information with manufacture of cannabis, possession of cannabis, and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 1) The state dropped the possession of cannabis count and the defendant pled nolo contendere to manufacture of cannabis and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 7) Pursuant to a negotiated plea (R. 9, 29-31), the defendant was sentenced to two (2) years community control followed by two (2) years probation on the manufacture charge, and one year probation on the possession of paraphernalia charge to run concurrent to the probation on count one (1). (R. 25) The guidelines range was any nonstate prison sanction. (R. 27)

On appeal to the Second District, the defendant, citing <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jhas.20">Thompson v. State</a>, 617 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), argued that the trial court erred in imposing a sentence of two (2) years and submitted that the sentence in the instant case was not a departure sentence pursuant to <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jhas.20">Thompson</a>. In its brief, the

Defendant's reliance on <u>Thompson</u> for the proposition that the sentence in the instant case was not a departure was misplaced. Thompson held merely that it was not a departure to

state responded that the sentence was imposed pursuant to a negotiated plea, that the two (2) years sentence was permitted by Section 948.01(4), Florida Statutes (1991) (which provides for a sentence of community control for up to two (2) years), and that the defendant had waived his right to appeal by accepting the benefits of the sentence order.

The Second District reversed the defendant's sentence on March 10, 1995 holding, in pertinent part:

A plea bargain between the state and the defendant is a valid reason to depart from the guidelines. Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988); State v. Esbenshade, 493 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). However, even under these circumstances the sentencing document must reflect a reason for departure. No reason is stated in the court's written sentencing order. Because no written reason was given for the departure sentence, we reverse the sentence imposed. On remand, the trial court must comply with our Thompson decision.

Williams v. State, No. 94-00570, slip. op. at 3 (2d DCA March 10, 1995). The state's Motion For Rehearing was denied April 28, 1995. The Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed on or about May 24, 1995.

It is above cited portion of the opinion which, the state contends, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Honorable Court and other District Courts of Appeal.

impose a sentence of incarceration under section 921.001(5),

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision under review should be quashed and conformed to this court's opinion in <u>Smith v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, where the court stated that a negotiated plea agreement which specifies the permissible sentence is binding and sufficient without any stated reasons to justify a departure from the presumptive sentence. The Second District's reliance upon <u>State v. Esbenshade</u>, <u>infra</u>, for the proposition that written reasons are required despite the fact that the departure is pursuant to a plea bargain in the record appears to be misplaced. In <u>Casmay v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, the Third District distinguished the case relied upon by the <u>Esbenshade</u> court and it follows that <u>Esbenshade</u> was also distinguished.

The state further submits that the defendant could plea bargain for the two (2) year term of community control since <a href="https://doi.org/10.2016/j.com/Thompson v. State">Thompson v. State</a>, infra, is distinguished because it involved a guidelines sentence. Finally, the state seeks review due to concern with the decision as precedent as opposed to its impact on the particular defendant.

Florida Statutes, where the guidelines recommended any nonstate prison sanction.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DECISION UNDER REVIEW SHOULD BE QUASHED SINCE A VOLUNTARY PLEA AGREEMENT WHICH IS A PART OF THE RECORD ON APPEAL FULLY JUSTIFIES SUCH A DEPARTURE AND NEGATES THE PURPOSE OF PLACING THE REASON FOR DEPARTURE ON THE SENTENCING DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS APPARENT ON THE RECORD THAT A PLEA BARGAIN WAS THE REASON FOR DEPARTURE.

The state sought discretionary review of the instant case because the reason for reversal below, the absence of a written reason for departure on the sentencing document where the departure resulted from a plea bargain, appeared, upon examination, to be at odds with this court's decisions in <a href="mailto:Smith.">Smith</a>
<a href="mailto:v.State">v.State</a>, 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988), White v. State, 531 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 1988) and various decisions of District Courts of Appeal. 2</a>

The Second District's reliance on Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988) and State v. Esbenshade, 493 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) for the proposition that a written reason is

See, e.g., Reynolds v. State, 598 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (negotiated plea agreement valid reason for departure without any written reasons); Hammond v. State, 591 So. 2d 1119 (1st DCA), appeal after remand, 608 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (same); Casmay v. State, 569 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (same); Hicks v. State, 559 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (same); Smith v. State, 553 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (same).

required for a guidelines departure pursuant to a plea bargain appears to be misplaced.

In <u>Smith</u>, this court addressed the following question of great public importance:

IS A PLEA AGREEMENT, PROVIDING ONLY FOR A SENTENCE WITHIN A TERM LESS THAN A STATUTORY MAXIMUM FOR A SINGLE CHARGED OFFENSE, AN ADEQUATE REASON FOR EXCEEDING GUIDELINES UP TO THE AGREED MAXIMUM WITHOUT STATING REASONS OTHER THAN THE FACT OF THE AGREEMENT?

Id. at 1106. Upon consideration, the court answered the certified question in the affirmative finding that "[o]nce a plea agreement is negotiated which specifies the permissible sentence, the agreement is binding and is sufficient without any stated reasons to justify a departure from the presumptive sentence."

Id. at 1107.

In the instant case, as in <u>Smith</u>, the defendant negotiated a plea agreement for a sentence in excess of the guidelines recommended and permitted ranges, but for a term less than the statutory maximum in order to avoid jail time. (R. 15) Although the plea agreement itself indicates the plea is to a recommended range (R. 30), at the sentencing hearing it was recognized that the disposition was above guidelines. (R. 15) As in <u>Smith</u>, the plea agreement is binding and sufficient without stated reasons to justify departure from the presumptive sentence.

The Second District's authority for reversal appears to be based upon Esbenshade where the court reversed a downward

departure based on a plea bargain because the reason for departure was not reduced to writing as required by <u>State v.</u> <u>Jackson</u>, 478 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1985). 493 So. 2d at 488. It appears, however, that the Esbenshade court misread Jackson.

In <u>Casmay v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) the Third District rejected a defendant's assertion that his bargained for sentences were illegal because the trial court did not state in writing any reason for departing from the guidelines. The court stated:

We reject this contention and affirm based on the authority of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 529 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1988):

"Once a plea agreement is negotiated which specifies the permissible sentence, the agreement is binding and is sufficient without any stated reasons to justify a departure from the presumptive [sentencing guidelines] sentence."

Id. at 1107 (emphasis added). In accord therewith, the Second District Court of Appeal has similarly held that no written reasons need be given to justify a sentencing guidelines departure where, as here, the sentence is imposed pursuant to a valid pleabargain agreement. Long v. State, 540 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Davis v. State, 528 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied, 536 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1988). We entirely agree.

Moreover, we do not read <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 478 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1985) to compel a contrary result. Although both decisions require the trial court to give written reasons for a sentencing-guidelines departure at the time sentence is imposed, neither case holds that this requirement attains where the departure is imposed pursuant to a valid plea-bargain agreement; indeed, Smith holds quite to the contrary. Where, as here, a sentencing-guidelines departure is imposed pursuant to a valid plea agreement, no stated reasons, written or oral, are necessary to justify the subject departure; a voluntary plea agreement spread out on the record for all the world to see fully justifies such a departure. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(vii).

569 So. 2d at 1352-53. Thus, the <u>Casmay</u> court was clearly able to distinguish <u>Jackson</u> as inapposite to the situation in which the departure is imposed pursuant to a valid plea-bargain agreement. It follows that Esbenshade is also distinguished.

The state further submits that under section 948.01(4),
Florida Statutes (1991) the defendant could permissibly plea
bargain for two (2) years community control. The Second District
correctly realized that Thompson v. State, 617 So. 2d 411 (Fla.
2d DCA 1993) is distinguished where the defendant has negotiated
for a particular sentence. As this court has stated in Crawford
v. State, 567 So. 2d 428, 429 (Fla. 1990) "[f]or any one offense,
community control may be imposed for a maximum of two years."

See also Goss v. State, 608 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); Sipp
v. State, 604 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Alvarez v. State,
593 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

The defendant, in his jurisdictional brief, argued that the question before the court for discretionary review was moot since

community control had been revoked and he had been resentenced to three (3) years imprisonment. The state, however, is not concerned with the individual rights of the defendant. The state is concerned with the effect of the lower court's decision as precedent. As this court recognized in Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958) "[a] limitation of review to decisions in 'direct conflict' clearly evinces a concern with decisions as precedents as opposed to adjudications of the rights of particular litigants." The decision below should be quashed and conformed to Smith because the plea bargain was sufficient in itself to justify the quidelines departure.

The state respectfully requests that the court quash the decision of the lower court to the extent that it required written reasons for departure other than the plea bargain itself.

#### CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing facts, arguments, and authorities, the court should quash the decision of the lower court because the plea bargain in itself justified the departure.