IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No. 85,784

CHRISTOPHER WILLIAMS, :

Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 19 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of case and facts subject to the following additions and clarifications:

The written plea agreement indicated, as among its terms, that "This is a guidelines plea to the Recommended Range, if not, either side may withdraw." (R30).

At the plea hearing, defense counsel stated that Mr. Williams agreed to community control because he had a job and did not wish to go to jail (R7). The trial court established that Mr. Williams had reviewed and signed the plea agreement (R7-8). During the plea colloquy, the following exchange occurred between the trial court and Mr. Williams:

- Q. In return for your plea you are going to be placed on a period of two years community control followed by a period of probation up to the court; you understand that?
 - A. Yes sir.
- Q. You understand that would probably be above what the recommended guideline range would be, but you're agreeing to the community control to avoid a possible sentence in the County jail?
 - A. Yes sir.
- (R9). At the sentencing proceeding Mr. Williams agreed with the community control sentence in order to avoid jail time and agreed with the trial judge that the sentence was an above guidelines disposition, not a recommended disposition as indicated in the plea agreement (R15).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Williams signed a written plea agreement which stated that the agreed upon community control sentence was in the range recommended by the sentencing guidelines. At a proceeding in which his plea was accepted, he was informed by the trial court the agreed upon sentence would be above the recommended range. Mr. Williams consented because he did not want to go to jail, but the written plea agreement was not amended. At a later sentencing proceeding, Mr. Williams was informed that the agreed upon sentence was a departure sentence. Mr. Williams consented because he did not want to go to jail. The plea agreement was not amended and no written departure reasons were made part of the record.

Written reasons for departure are necessary upon imposing departure sentences. An exception of the requirement for written reasons should not be made for sentences imposed pursuant to a plea agreement, especially where, as in the instant case, the written agreement does not indicate that a departure sentence is integral to the plea. If an exception is made for departure sentences pursuant to a plea agreement, the written plea agreement should contain, clearly on its face, the express agreement to a departure sentence and valid reasons for imposing a departure sentence. An appellate court should not have to search through transcripts of proceedings for valid departure reasons. The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal reversing for lack of written reasons justifying the departure sentence should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION UNDER REVIEW SHOULD BE QUASHED SINCE A VOLUNTARY PLEA AGREEMENT WHICH IS A PART OF THE RECORD ON APPEAL FULLY JUSTIFIES SUCH A DEPARTURE AND NEGATES THE PURPOSE OF PLACING THE REASON FOR DEPARTURE ON THE SENTENCING DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS APPARENT ON THE RECORD THAT A PLEA BARGAIN WAS THE REASON FOR THE DEPARTURE. (AS STATED BY PETITIONER)

The State sought discretionary review of the instant case, asserting that the reason for reversal was "at odds with" decisions of this Court and of the First¹, Third, and Fifth² District Courts of Appeal (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 3, 5). The State

Petitioner cites <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) and <u>Hammond v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), for the proposition that a negotiated plea agreement is a valid reason for departure without any written reasons. <u>But see Wolf v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (departure sentences imposed pursuant to a valid plea bargain were lawful despite the lack of written departure reasons, but, the "better practice dictates a written statement specifying that a departure sentence is based on a negotiated plea agreement")

Petitioner cited Smith v. State, 553 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), which held that "While it would be better form to state the negotiated plea as the written reason for departure the plea is in the record and it alone justifies the enhanced penalty." [Emphasis added.] Smith, 553 So. 2d at 748. However, in Williams v. State, 618 So. 2d 773, 774 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), the court stated that "Although a negotiated plea is a basis for departure, it should, nevertheless, be so stated in writing by the trial court." In Brooks v. State, 649 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), the court held that "Although we recognize that standing alone, this departure sentence would require the furnishing of contemporaneous written reasons, we affirm because this sentence was imposed pursuant to a plea agreement in which Brooks specifically agreed to the imposition of a departure sentence." It appears that there may be conflict within the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

takes exception to the Second District Court of Appeal's holding that:

A plea bargain between the state and the defendant is a valid reason to depart from the guidelines. Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988); State v. Ebenshade, 493 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). However, even under these circumstances the sentencing document must reflect a reason for departure. No reason is stated in the court's sentencing order. Because no written reason was given for the departure sentence, we reverse the sentence imposed.

Williams v. State, 653 So. 2d 407, 408 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

"The general rule in sentencing is to sentence within the guidelines; departure from the guidelines is the exception to the rule." Wemmett v. State, 567 So. 2d 882, 886 (Fla. 1990). See Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838, 842 (Fla. 1989) ("Departures are to be affirmatively discouraged."). "The exception of upward departure is intended to apply when extraordinary circumstances exist to reasonably justify aggravating ... the sentence." Wemmett, 567 So. 2d at 886.

Neither the Florida Statutes or the Florida Rules of Criminal procedure indicate an exception to the requirement for written reasons to accompany a sentencing guidelines departure sentence. Section 921.001(6), Florida Statutes (1993) ("The sentencing guidelines shall provide that any sentences imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines be explained in writing by the trial court judge."); Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.701 (b)(6) ("departures from the presumptive sentences established in the guidelines shall be articulated in writing ..."); Florida Rules

of Criminal Procedure 3.701 (d)(11) ("Any sentence outside of the guidelines must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure.").

Requiring a court to write its reasons for departure at the time of sentencing reinforces the court's obligation to think through its sentencing decision, and it preserves for appellate review a full and accurate record of the sentencing decision.

Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1067 (Fla. 1992).

In Smith v.State, 529 So. 2d 1106, 1107 (Fla. 1988), this Court did state that "Once a plea agreement is negotiated which specifies the permissible sentence, the agreement is binding and is sufficient to justify a departure from the presumptive sentence." However, this Court also stated in State v. Jackson, 478 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1985), that "The legislature and this Court, by statute and rule have clearly mandated written orders to assure effective appellate review." In Troutman v. State, 630 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that when a juvenile enters into a plea agreement authorizing the imposition of adult sanctions, a finding of the suitability for adult sanctions must be made and contemporaneously reduced to writing. This holding was made in light of the right to treat juveniles differently from adults, but relied directly on the requirements of written findings in imposing death sentences and quideline departure sentences. Troutman, 630 So. 2d at 531-532. This Court should find written departure reasons necessary even where the sentence may be authorized by a plea agreement.

If this Court holds that written reasons may not be necessary in a case where the sentence may have been authorized by a plea, it should hold that the written plea agreement in such cases should be facially sufficient to establish valid departure reasons. The plea agreement in the instant case indicated, as among its terms, that "This is a guidelines plea to the Recommended Range³, if not, either side may withdraw." (R29-31). The plea agreement indicated a sentence of two years of community control followed by a term of probation to determined by the trial court (R30). In this plea agreement Mr. Williams did not agree to a departure sentence. On the contrary, this agreement specifically stated that the sentence was to be within the guidelines recommended range.

A trial court can not rely on a written plea agreement to substantiate a departure sentence where the agreement specifically states that the sentence will be within the guidelines. Calleja v. State, 562 So. 2d 395 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Cecil v. State, 596 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (reversal for imposition of guidelines sentence where no written reasons for departure were given, and not only did defendant not agree to be sentenced outside the guidelines as part of her plea bargain, guidelines sentencing was a part of her agreement). The written plea agreement in this case

The sentencing guidelines recommended and permitted any nonstate prison sanction (R27). Where the guidelines permit any nonstate prison sanction, two years of community control is in excess of the twenty-two months of community control allowed by Section 921.001(5), Florida Statutes (1993). Thompson v. State, 617 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

is not a competent substitute for valid written reasons for departure.

The case principally relied upon by the petitioner, Casmay v. State, 569 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), supports this The Third District Court of Appeal held that "Where, as here, a sentencing-quidelines departure is imposed pursuant to a valid plea agreement, no stated reasons, written or oral, are necessary to justify the subject departure; a voluntary plea agreement spread out for all the world to see fully justifies the departure." Casmay, 569 So. 2d at 1353; (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 7). See Musgrove v. State, 599 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (plea agreement did not provide a valid reason for departure because the plea agreement did not make clear that the defendant understood that the guidelines would not apply). Compare Brooks v. State, 649 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), (affirming departure sentence without written reasons because the sentence was imposed pursuant to a plea agreement in which the defendant specifically agreed to the imposition of a departure sentence). In the instant case, the written plea agreement does not establish "for all the world to see" that a departure sentence was a part of the plea agreement.

Where neither the sentencing documents, nor the written plea agreement establishes valid departure reasons, an appellate court should not refer to transcripts of the proceedings to establish a basis for a departure sentence. Where a statute requires that a written order give findings and reasons, a transcript of the proceedings upon which the order is based can not act as a substitute. <u>Jackson</u>, 478 So. 2d at 1056. <u>See Jones v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 1994), (a downward departure without written reasons on the sentencing order must be reversed with no possibility of departure from the guidelines, even though the records and the transcript of the sentencing proceeding indicate that the trial court had found reasons to justify the departure).

However, should this Court chose to rely on the transcripts to determine whether Mr. Williams agreed to a departure sentence in entering his plea, the following exchange occurred between the trial court and Mr. Williams during the plea colloquy:

- Q. In return for your plea you are going to be placed on a period of two years community control followed by a period of probation up to the court; you understand that?
 - A. Yes sir.
- Q. You understand that would probably be above what the recommended guideline range would be, but you're agreeing to the community control to avoid a possible sentence in the County jail?
 - A. Yes sir.

(R9). This colloquy establishes that Mr. Williams orally agreed to a sentence above the recommended guideline range in order to avoid possible jail sentence, not that he (or the trial court) was aware that the sentence would be a departure sentence in excess of the permitted guidelines sentence or that he waived his right to a guidelines sentence. See <u>Tirado v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (defendants' stated preference to jail sentence over community control or probation did not waive their rights under written plea agreement to be sentenced within the guidelines);

Lloyd v. State, 633 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (departure sentence imposed was invalid because it was not supported by contemporaneous written reasons and the record does not indicate that the defendant agreed to be sentenced outside the guidelines as part of his plea).

The State argues that statements from the transcript of the sentencing hearing indicates support for finding that the plea agreement is binding and sufficient without written reasons to justify the departure (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 6). At the sentencing proceeding Mr. Williams agreed with the community control sentence to avoid jail time and agreed with the trial judge that the sentence was an above guidelines disposition, not a recommended disposition as indicated in the plea agreement (R15). This colloquy shows that Mr. Williams now was agreeable to a departure sentence to avoid jail time, not pursuant to, but despite The transcript of oral statements from a his plea agreement. sentencing proceeding is not sufficient to satisfy the statutory requirement of written reasons for a departure sentence. State v. <u>Jackson</u>, 478 So. 2d 1054, 1055-1056 (Fla. 1985). As this Court stated in Jackson, 478 So. 2d at 1056, "To accept the state's interpretation would effectively change the rule and statute to mean that justification for a departure need only be found by an examination of the record. Such an interpretation was the intent of neither the legislature nor this court in directing that any departure be explained in writing." See also Hause v. State, 643 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (written reasons required for

departure sentence even if the defendant requested the sentence imposed).

The record in this case is inadequate to establish a departure reason based on an agreement. "Departures from the recommended or permitted quidelines sentences should be avoided unless there are circumstances that reasonably justify aggravating or mitigating the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.701 (d)(11); Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.701 (b)(6) ("departures from the presumptive sentences established in the quidelines shall be articulated in writing and made when circumstances or factors reasonably justify the aggravation or mitigation of the sentence."). In the instant case, Mr. Williams agreed to a term of community control to avoid jail time and to keep his job (R9, 15). As part of the plea agreement, a charge of possession of marijuana However, had Mr. Williams pled straight up to the was dropped. charges, he would have still fallen in the same cell in the quidelines4. Mr. Williams oral agreement at the sentencing proceeding to accept a departure sentence to avoid jail is not a circumstance justifying "aggravating the sentence". "Unless upward or downward departures are justified by valid written reasons, a

⁴ Had Mr. Williams pled straight up, he would have had an additional third degree felony on his scoresheet. This would have yielded an additional 8 points on his scoresheet. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.988(g). His scoresheet total would have been 66 points instead of 58 points (R27). Both of these point totals yield a guidelines sentence of any nonstate prison sanction in both the recommended and permitted ranges. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.988(g).

trial judge may not depart from the guidelines recommendation."

Branam v. State, 554 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1990).

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal to require that "under these circumstances the sentencing document must reflect a reason for departure" should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments, and authorities, the Respondent asks this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal. This Honorable Court should find that written reasons for departure must be filed in all cases where a departure sentence is imposed. In the alternative, this Honorable Court should find that for a written plea agreement to provide an exception to the requirement for written reasons, that the agreement on its face establish that a departure sentence is an integral part of the agreement and that the agreement on its face establish circumstances justifying aggravation of the sentence.